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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Newport Parish Church, or Saint Luke's as it is more familiarly

but unofficially known, is the most convincingly gothic church in
America. Erected possibly as early as 1632, this is a small church

of the English late-medieval period, with considerable gothic detailing.

Basically, Saint Luke's is a simple nave plan (29'4 and 3/4" X 65'7 3/4')
with a twenty foot square tower at the west end. Its two-foot-thick
walls are laid in a rough Flemish bond, including crude tracery in brick,
forming pointed lancet windows. The large lancet east wall is a striking
exercise in brick tracery. Deep wall buttresses project prominently from
three bays of the north and south walls. They have sloping set-offs.

At both the east and west end of the.church are crow-stepped gables, while
unadorned turrets, corbelled slightly at their bases, decorate the corners
of the building.

The tower at the west end of Saint Luke's is one of its most interesting
features, with a suggestion on first sight that there may here be a sug-
gestion of classical awaremess in late 17th century America. The triangu-
lar feature over the doorway is a particularly intriguing one which one
might think to be a crude example of the forever-used renaissance pedi-
ment. However, not only does its heaviness argue against the spirit of
the renaissance, but the use of this feature may easily be traced to simi-
lar usage in English high-style architecture of the very late sixteenth
century.

The shape and depth of the round arch below that triangle, also argues
against anything but a traditional outlook by the builders. It is heavy
and very three-dimensional (an effect created by cleverly turning the
outside wall towards the inside of the arch with moulded bricks) giving
the effect more of a Romanesque archivolt than anything classical.

The Newport Parish Church was doubtless planned with a tower but with one
of only two storeys, which almost certainly terminated in Gothic crenella-
tion. The quoining of those two storeys, which again could be interpreted
as a classical reference, in fact is a feature to be found mixed together
with medieval elements in English Architecture as early as the mid-six-
teenth century.

Despite these few rebuttals to the arguments of a classical mixture in the
tower of Saint Luke's however, it is certainly in fact that. In the third
storey of that tower, added in the late seventeenth century, we have some-
thing that William Pierson calls "..... precocious..... forming a prophetic
prelude of things to come...." A remarkable visual change from the ear-
lier heavy quoining to much more delicate pilaster strips marks a new
awareness of architectural trends acquired by men of increasing cultural
pre-occupation. Based upon extensive research compiled by The Historic
Saint Luke's Foundation in the 1950's, it seems safe to say that the
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Newport Parish Church, more familiarly known as Saint Luke's,

is the oldest remaining church of English foundation in the United States|
Although there is still some question about the date of the building,
research indicates 1632 to be the most likely date of its construction.
Its interior appointments are in a later, more Jacobean spirit, now
restored, but the fabric of the church places it firmly in the late-medied
val English small parish church style. While Saint Luke's is not sty-
listically coherent, it instead provides examples of various periods of
English gothic architecture. Its entrance for instance, with heavy round
arch, is practically Romanesque; its brick-traceried lancet window in the
east wall suggests high English gothic, while the crow-stepped gables at
either end are suggestive of the late-gothic period. 1In the third storey
of the tower, added several decades after the first two, we have a sug-
gestion of the classical style of the English architecture of the late
seventeenth century. Saint Luke's belongs as much to the history of
Western Architecture as it does to that of early colonial America.

The dating of Saint Luke's has been a challenging task for researchers fojl
some time. Best evidence however places the date at about 1632, with the
interior completed only over the course of the next three decades. Col-
onel Joseph Bridger, who was definitely in the vicinity by 1657, commis-
sioned the Driver brothers to complete the interior after that. The
third storey was added to the tower at the west end of Saint Luke's in
the late seventeenth century.

With the disestablishment of the Anglican Church in Virginia during the
1780's, Newport Parish Church sank into a decline from which it recover-
ed only in the twentieth century. Its use became intermittent only, over
those years.

In 1828, a young deacon renamed the "0ld Brick'" Saint Luke's, but as
Morrison points out, the new name was never validated by consecration

or action of the vestry and the most appropriate name remains The Newport
Parish Church. The building was again closed four years later.

By the late nineteenth century, the Old Brick had been long-neglected,
and during a violent storm in the 1880's, the roof collapsed and bricks
were dislodged from the walls. Several bricks were supposedly found then
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building program there may be divided into work done before 1657, and

work done after that. When compared with the nearby work of the 1660's

at Bacon's Castle, which also shows a sense of social ambitiousness, we
can see the same cultural self-consciousness in the post-1657 work at
Newport Parish Church. The classical pilasters are a limited but definite
piece of evidence of that striving.

The interior appointments of Saint Luke's were not added until a number of
years after completion of the fabric of the building, and after 1657 Colonel
Joseph Bridger commissioned Charles and Thomas Driver to complete the work
and add the third storey to the tower. The roof has been rebuilt a number
of times and doubtless originally had a steeper, more gothic, pitch. The
tie-beam timber-truss, closed above the collar beam, has also been rebuilt
but is based upon the original scheme as verified by reasearch.

Originally, a gallery existed at the west end of the nave, supported by a
massive hewn oak beam, and this has been rebuilt, as has been the rood
screen in the chancel and the square brick tiles in the floor of the church.
The original stained-glass windows were replaced in the nineteenth century
and those Victorian windows remain in place today.

While there has been an extensive refitting of the interior, the work has
been based upon meticulous research over a period of several years and must
be considered as "correct'" as humanly possible. This conjectural restora-
tion has not affected the external appearance of the church except for some
change to the pitch of the roof.

The Newport Parish Church is located in the township of Benn's Church,
Virginia, not far from Smithfield in Isle of Wight County, and in fact, is
often referred to simply as '"Saint Luke's Smithfield". Surrounded by a
graveyard and a golf course, only part of the former is owned by the
Historic Saint Luke's Foundation, and none of the latter. A rather compli-
cated boundary winds through the churchyard, dividing land owned by the
church and land owned by the Benn's Church Cemetery, confusingly called
Saint Luke's Cemetery. A sketch map shows that separation.

Land immediately east of the church boundary is used as a golf course and
the Foundation has recently purchased 2 acres of land directly behind the
church and planted there a stand of pine trees which now contributes signif-
icantly to the visual integrity of the site. To the north of the church are
a pair of small ponds, and a stream running east-west, a tributary of Jones
Creek. A visitors-center building Sits to the south and west of Saint
Luke's at a distance of perhaps 75 yards. The land between the two is a
tree-covered slope falling off towards the church, divided by a dirt road
running north-south. Further south is private land used as pasture.

A reasonable boundary around Saint Luke's should be made in the
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following way: beginning on State Route 10 beside the more western of the
two ponds and continuing east along the northern shore of both ponds and
then along the creek to an arbitrary point at UTM 18.358840.4089340 then
south to another point at UTM 18.358900.4089160 so as to include the two
acres of land at the rear of the church providing an important visual pro-
tection there from the golf course to the east. The line should then come
back west to route 10 (UTM 18.358620.4089080) running finally along the
eastern boundary of the road to the starting point at the pond. This
boundary will include the visitors-center, which is not part of the Landmark
of course, but no other buildings than Saint Luke's. Although this will be
a site of only about 5 acres, it is laid out in such a way as to present a
serene and somewhat bucolic setting for a church whose associations, after
all should hearken us back to.an era of quiet, rustic charm. From the church,
the slope of the hill towards the west and south safeguards our view. To
the north, we see the ponds in the near distance, and to the east, a stand
of pine trees planted as a screen by the Foundation. All of these features
contribute significantly to the integrity of Saint Luke's surroundings.

The grounds are well-maintained near the church by the Foundation, even
though a number of the grave lots are in private hands and would otherwise
be overgrown. The building itself -is excellently maintained by the resources
of the Foundation and Saint Luke's is open to the public daily with an
accompanying guide. It is used occasionally for funerals and weddings,
while services are scheduled only three days of the year.

GPO 921.724



Form 10-300a UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE

(July 1969)

(RATIONAL TIETE
LAthAI\VKD i (Continuation Sheet)

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Vlrg]_n]_a

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |couNTY
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM Isle of Wight

nic FOR NPS USE ONLY

ENTRY NUMBER DATE

(Number all entries)

8. Significance second page

with the date 1632 incised, settling once and for all the date of the
first construction. It didn't.

The roof was rebuilt, but Saint Luke's was neglected again and by 1950
ominous bulges had appeared in the basement walls and the building
seemed to be in danger of collapse. A dramatic nationwide appeal was
mounted, and sufficient funds were raised to research and restore

Saint Luke's to a respectable condition. Headed by James Grote Vander-
pool, then Avery Architectural Librarian at Columbia University, an
intensive and extended (1953-1957) historical and archeological program
was developed to reconstruct much of the interior which had been alter-
ed during Georgian and Victorian periods, as well as to stabilize and

restore the exterior. The March 1958 issue of the Journal of the Societ)

of Architectural Historians contains an account of the particulars of
the work done.

The church and a small amount of land around it is still owned and
administered by The Historic Saint Luke's Foundation, which maintains
it in excellent condition. The third storey of the tower has recently
been filled with de-humidification equipment for the church.
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